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‘The King is but a man, royalty is the gift of God.’


Alexandre Dumas
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INTRODUCTION



Although Egbert became overlord of the other kings who ruled parts of England after AD 825, effective monarchy began with King Athelstan, who was crowned in AD 924. When his kingdom stretched from the south coast to Hadrian’s Wall, Athelstan realised that if a king was to be regarded as something more than a local ruler his role needed to be reinforced by ceremonial and pageantry. As a result he has been described as ‘the first king to bring the concept of majesty to the country’. Soon religion bestowed kingship with a mystical quality which, while it did not approach the divinity of Japanese emperors, nurtured the ‘divine right of kings’.


It is perhaps not extraordinary that royal ceremonial has survived in Britain and is still a part of national life in an age of technology. It would seem that ritual is necessary to the human condition. This appears to be borne out in some countries where monarchy has been replaced yet where the new rulers provide pageantry, which endorses their power and gives their subjects – sorry, people – a feeling of unity. However, to some the sight of a gilded coach escorted by cavalry in uniforms dating back to Waterloo is preferable to orchestrated rallies or processions of marching battalions.


A thousand years have passed since King Athelstan was crowned on King’s Stone at Kingston upon Thames, during which England has had fifty-four sovereigns – splendid kings and queens, weak kings and queens, ruthless kings and queens, and even a few who have been described as saintlike. Whatever else, they have provided us with stories that are as entertaining today as they were in Shakespeare’s time, as this Companion illustrates. And until a Scottish king inherited the throne of England, Scotland had its own monarchy every bit as varied and intriguing.


Throughout history there have been several royal houses, yet despite the dynastic changes the royal bloodline stretches back to pre-Athelstan days. Tracing it, one learns the fascination of genealogical charts which when studied reveal so much more than who succeeded whom. For example, the complex inter-relationship of the royal houses of England and those of Scotland and the Continent become suddenly apparent when the royal lines of kinship are traced. While England’s royal houses have originated from abroad, equally foreign royalty has had its share of royal English genes. A prime example becomes clear with a glance at the genealogy of Queen Victoria.


As this book is a ‘Companion’, its object is to give the widest view of its subject; therefore, weighty matters such as the conflict between Crown and Church or the introduction of constitutional monarchy are balanced by such topics as royal pets or royal needlework. And as there would be no royal heritage without the sovereigns who have reigned in England and Britain since Athelstan, the endeavour has been to present them, as far as possible, as human beings rather than as royal figureheads. If this has involved a certain amount of trivia, so be it.


It is the plea of the author that in order to get the fairest picture of a past monarch the reader should try to judge him by the moeurs of his time. We, who pride ourselves in living in a democratic and caring society, understandably find such things as medieval execution or the burning of heretics shocking. Yet if medieval people could have time-travelled into the twentieth century, they would have been aghast at the use of weapons of mass destruction or genocide on a scale that would have been beyond medieval imagination.


Today, the challenge to the monarchy is to remain royal under the warts-and-all scrutiny of television and a media obsessed by ‘celebrity’ stories and exposés. But, as this book shows, the royal road has ever been a rocky one and yet the institution has survived and is likely to continue into the future because it fulfils a requirement in society, of which society is only vaguely aware. Outside the Houses of Parliament stand two statues; one is of Oliver Cromwell, who briefly banished the monarchy, and the other is of Richard Coeur de Lion, the epitome of kingship. To the author the combination of these two historical characters in such a setting symbolises much of the British outlook.


The entries in this Companion are arranged in alphabetical order with cross references denoted by words printed in capital letters.


Marc Alexander


Gilsland, Cumbria





A


ABDICATION In over eleven centuries of monarchy in Britain, one of the rarest events is abdication, a sovereign ending his or her reign by surrendering the Crown. In AD 962 King Ingulf of Scotland abdicated in order to join a holy order, but within a year his new vocation had ended when he was killed by marauding Vikings. Three centuries were to pass before the next abdication when John Balliol (‘Toom Tabard’) resigned from the throne of Scotland in 1296. He had been placed upon it by the influence of EDWARD I after the death of Margaret (‘The Maid of Norway’), which had left the country without a direct successor to the Crown. A council of twelve disaffected nobles took control of the government and concluded an alliance with England’s traditional enemy France. In reply King Edward invaded Scotland and, laying the blame on John, forced him to abdicate, after which he was imprisoned in the TOWER OF LONDON before he was finally allowed to retire to his estates in Normandy.


On 20 June 1327 EDWARD II was deposed by a parliament controlled by his wife Queen Isabella (‘The She-wolf of France’) and her paramour ROGER MORTIMER, Earl of March. On the 25th of the month the king ‘dressed in black, fainting and sobbing’ formally abdicated in favour of his son EDWARD III, and the Steward of the Royal Household broke his staff, signalling that his reign was ended. Nine months later the ex-king was murdered at Berkeley Castle.


The next English king to abdicate was RICHARD II, who, in August 1399, was captured by Henry Bolingbroke, who became HENRY IV. Richard formally abdicated the following month and, imprisoned in Pontefract Castle, he died mysteriously the following year.


MARY, QUEEN OF SCOTS, when a prisoner at Lochleven, was approached by Lord Lindsey, Lord Ruthven and Sir Robert Melville on behalf of the rebel lords who had taken control, and induced to abdicate on 24 July 1567 in favour of her infant son James VI of Scotland, who subsequently became JAMES I of England. Later she escaped from her island prison and found herself at the head of an army of her supporters. She was defeated by her half-brother James Stewart, Earl of Moray at the Battle of Langside on 13 May 1568, after which she unwisely fled to England to put herself at the mercy of ELIZABETH I. She was held a prisoner until her execution in 1587.


JAMES II was ‘deemed by Parliament’ to have abdicated on 11 December 1688 by fleeing to France at the onset of the GLORIOUS REVOLUTION. In his court of exile at St Germain he was still regarded as the rightful King of England by his supporters, who came to be known as Jacobites, and funded by the French he endeavoured to regain the Crown with an invasion of Ireland, but was defeated by WILLIAM III at the Battle of Boyne in 1690.


The next relinquishing of the British Crown came 248 years later in what came to be known as the Abdication Crisis. Then, EDWARD VIII abdicated on 11 December 1936 in favour of his brother GEORGE VI in order that he might marry Wallis Simpson. The government and the Church of England had bitterly opposed the idea of the marriage to Mrs Simpson, as it was considered that it would be inappropriate for the king as head of the Church to marry a divorcee. The king had supporters sympathetic to his dilemma – the Crown or the woman he loved – and there was talk of a King’s Party being formed, but Edward decided the only solution was his abdication, which he announced to the nation in a historic wireless broadcast.


AGINCOURT, BATTLE OF The most famous victory won by a king in the field, the battle was fought on St Crispin’s Day, 25 October 1415. HENRY V, having taken Harfleur, led his army across Normandy towards his object of Calais. Close to the village of Azincourt they were met by a much larger force. As a frontal attack was launched against the English position, Henry’s archers cut down the flower of French chivalry and gave Henry mastery of Normandy, making him a national hero, a role immortalised in Shakespeare’s play Henry V.


AID The name given to the system whereby the tenants of medieval kings were called upon to provide ‘aid’, i.e. money, for exceptional circumstances. These could range from the cost of the marriage of an eldest princess to raising the ransom of a captured king. From a historical point of view this practice was important, as councils meeting to consider whether or not aid should be granted to the sovereign were the forerunners of Parliament.


Cut-out figures of Henry V’s archers on the


battlefield of Agincourt – a generous tribute to the


English victors.


ALBERT MEMORIAL See KENSINGTON GARDENS


ALBERT, PRINCE The second son of Ernest, Duke of Saxe-Coburg-Gotha, Albert married his cousin QUEEN VICTORIA in 1840, and two years later was made Consort. He was to labour with such dedication for the advancement of his adopted country that he often appeared haggard. As chairman of the Fine Arts Royal Commission, it was his aspiration to make London’s South Kensington a centre for the arts and education. His interests ranged from the improvement of housing for the working classes to industrial development and the furtherance of science. The Great Exhibition of 1851 in Hyde Park was his inspiration. When it opened in May it was a personal triumph for the Prince, who had seen it through against all manner of opposition. Its success was to underline Britain as the ‘workshop of the world’.


Over the years, the prince wore down the mistrust felt towards him as a foreigner by both the public and ministers. When he became the Queen’s husband he was practically unknown in England, and lacking position and wealth he was regarded by many as a ‘Coburg adventurer on the make’. Indeed, it was not until 1857 that he was officially designated Prince Consort. Too intelligent to interfere openly in politics, his far-sighted advice was passed on to the Cabinet through the Queen. In one instance he is credited with averting a war between Great Britain and the United States of America.


The life of the royal couple was not wholly devoted to politics and advancement. Albert, raised in the romantic countryside of his father’s little kingdom, sought to get away from London whenever possible to enjoy domestic life with Victoria and their family at BALMORAL in Scotland and OSBORNE HOUSE on the Isle of Wight.


It has been said that the Prince’s most significant contribution to the British way of life was the example he and the Queen set of a decorous and devout family life after the scandals associated with previous Hanoverian reigns. Yet the behaviour of his eldest son Edward, the future EDWARD VII, caused him great anxiety. When Albert and Victoria became concerned about his matrimonial prospects, they were unaware of the talk in London clubs about Edward’s liaison with Nellie Clifden, discretion not being one of the actress’s virtues. When the story finally reached Windsor it dropped like a bombshell on the royal family. Prince Albert wrote to Edward ‘with a heavy heart upon a subject which has caused me the greatest pain I have yet felt in this life’.


Albert travelled in a special train to Cambridge, where Edward was at Trinity, for a man-to-man talk which ended in a reconciliation between father and son. When Albert returned to London, he was in a low state of health, and his symptoms developed into typhoid fever from which he died on 14 December 1861. Believing that her beloved husband’s illness had been caused by Edward’s immoral behaviour, the Queen refused to send for him and it was only the result of a telegram, dispatched in secret by his sister Princess Alice, that Edward travelled to Windsor early on the day that his father died.


Desperate in her grief, Victoria continued to hold Edward responsible, and she wrote to her daughter Vicky that ‘I never can or shall look at him [Edward] without a shudder . . .’


ALFRED THE ATHELING Born c. 1008, the son of ETHELRED II (‘The Unready’) and his second wife EMMA, Alfred was known as ‘The Atheling’, the name denoting a prince of the blood royal or an heir apparent. A year after the death of Ethelred, Queen Emma married KING CANUTE, by whom she had a son and two daughters. This meant that Alfred and his brother, the future EDWARD THE CONFESSOR, were barred from the succession. They were taken to Normandy to be brought up, and on the death of Canute in 1035 Alfred made a rash visit to England. At Ely in Cambridgeshire he was taken prisoner by EARL GODWINE, then blinded and brutally murdered. His remains were interred in Ely Cathedral.


ALFRED THE GREAT As the legendary KING ARTHUR was to the Celts, so Alfred was to the Anglo-Saxons – a warrior king who held the line against foreign invaders. But Alfred is seen as more than a folk-tale hero, thanks to his biography by Bishop Asser, written in AD 893, which gives the first detailed account of an English king.


Alfred was born at Wattage in AD 849, the fifth son of Ethelwulf who was crowned King of Wessex five years later at Kingston upon Thames. He was said to be more interested in the kingdom of heaven than in his own kingdom of Wessex, and when Alfred was 6 years old he took him on a pilgrimage to Rome, seemingly not troubled by the fact that for the first time Vikings wintered on the Isle of Sheppey, which implied their designs upon England. The ruins of Rome and all they represented had a profound effect on the boy prince and left him with a lifelong ambition to restore learning to Wessex.


In AD 858 Ethelwulf died and was succeeded by his son Ethelbald. He died two years later and was followed by his brother Ethelbert. On his death in AD 865 the throne passed to Ethelred, who like his brothers was destined to have a short reign, spent in opposing the Danes, as the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle called the Scandinavian invaders.


In the year of Ethelred’s accession a huge force of Danes, known as the Great Army, landed in East Anglia and prepared to attack systematically the various English kingdoms. It was led by the sons of the Viking Ragnar Lothbrok (‘Hairy Breeches’) who, after being captured by the Northumbrians, had been put to death in a snake pit. By AD 870 the Great Army had subdued Northumbria and East Anglia, where King Edmund became a living target for Danish archers when he refused to renounce Christianity.


The Great Army then advanced on Wessex, where on 8 January AD 871 it was checked at the Battle of Ashdown on the Berkshire Downs, the victory mainly due to the courage of Alfred. Soon afterwards King Ethelred died of wounds received at the Battle of Merton, fought on 23 April, and Alfred, the last of Ethelwulf’s sons, was chosen as king by the WITAN. The Danes’ incursions into Wessex continued and after Ashdown eight other battles were fought against them that year, with the result that the West Saxons earned some respite. Then, early in AD 878, Guthrum, King of the East Anglian Danes, made an attack for which Alfred was unprepared. As the Danes had never campaigned in winter before, the assault came as such a surprise that Alfred, with his wife Ethelswitha and their children, had to flee his palace at Chippenham, after which he became a lonely fugitive.


During the spring of AD 878 he was forced to hide on the marsh-surrounded Isle of Athelney and here the legendary tales surrounding him began. The best known tells how the disguised king took shelter in a cowherd’s cottage. While he was sitting in front of the fire making arrows, the cowherd’s wife asked him to watch some rye cakes baking on the hearth. Doubtless pondering on the plight of his occupied kingdom, Alfred did not notice that the cakes were being scorched until too late and he was berated in no uncertain terms. Alfred merely laughed over the episode and when he regained his kingdom the cowherd and his wife were rewarded.


By Easter AD 878 he had established a base on Athelney, on which his scattered followers began to converge. They were encouraged when the Earl of Devon’s Saxons defeated a Danish army, slaying nearly a thousand Danes, though the real psychological blow to the invaders was the loss of their Raven Banner. This they regarded with superstitious awe, believing that the ill-omened bird, embroidered by the daughters of Ragnar Lothbrok, portended victory or defeat by raising or lowering its wings.


It was at this point another incident occurred that was to become part of folklore. When Alfred was planning to meet Guthrum in battle he was anxious to know the disposition of his forces, so disguising himself as a minstrel he entered the enemy camp, where for several days he entertained the Danes. After his successful spying the order was secretly circulated for all men willing to fight the Danes to muster at Egbert’s Stone in a lonely spot to the east of Selwood Forest. Soon afterwards one of the most significant battles in British history was fought when the English met the Danes at Edington in Wiltshire; after the Danes had fled the field, Alfred blockaded their base at Chippenham, where they were ‘terrified by hunger, cold and fear’.


Finally Guthrum surrendered, offering hostages as an insurance for a peaceful withdrawal. Alfred was wisely magnanimous in victory and sent in food, and soon Saxon and Dane were feasting together, a remarkable peace celebration after so much bloodletting. Alfred’s wish that he should be baptised was realised when the king ‘stood godfather to him and raised him from the holy font’. Guthrum honoured his oath to leave Wessex in peace and settled with his followers in East Anglia, where he remained Alfred’s staunch ally.


While Guthrum was no longer a threat, Alfred had to defend his kingdom against other invaders until in AD 879 they withdrew and the kingdom was finally at peace. By building ships with twice as many oars as those of the Danes, the king was able to defend the realm by heading off raiders before they could make landfall. His improved vessels, powered by sixty sweeps, shifted the balance of seapower so that Alfred earned the title of ‘Father of the English Navy’.


King Alfred founded twenty-five towns, some of which were built on old Roman sites and some of which, like Shaftesbury and Oxford, were new. Although Alfred could now have claimed the title of King of the English, he preferred to remain officially the King of Wessex as he had no wish to weaken the country by regional jealousies. At his court the Witan was composed of Englishmen rather than just men of Wessex, as had been the rule. Part of the work of this broadly based Witan was to assist the king in drawing up a treaty with Guthrum which not only defined his territory, known as the Danelaw, but had more far-reaching objectives. It stated that Englishmen living within the Danelaw should be treated as equals with the Danes, and Danes outside the Danelaw should have the same rights as Englishmen. The effect of this upon the country was so profound that it has been likened to MAGNA CARTA in importance.


Once the wars with the Danes were over, it is estimated that Alfred spent half the kingdom’s revenue on bringing enlightenment to what had long been an illiterate land. Monasteries that had been destroyed were rebuilt, schools set up, and foreign craftsmen, artists and scholars were encouraged to come to teach in England. The king decreed that ‘all the sons of freemen who have the means to undertake it should be set to learning English letters’. So eager was the king that he had himself taught Latin so he could translate Latin books into the language of his people. As a result he was not only regarded as the Father of the English Navy but the Father of English Prose. Among the works he translated was Orosius’ History of the World, which he brought up to date by writing extra chapters.


Alfred’s days were so crowded that, at a time when hour-glasses and clocks were unknown in England, he devised a candle clock so he could divide up his time as profitably as possible. This was simply a candle marked with coloured rings, each of which represented an hour. When he was absorbed in writing, a servant watched the candle burn down until a new ring was reached, and it was his duty to announce that another hour had passed. To prevent draughts from making the candle clock unreliable the king invented a special draught-proof lantern to hold it.


Exhausted by his endeavours as a military commander, administrator and scholar, King Alfred – ‘England’s darling’ – died in 899 at the age of 50 and was succeeded by his son EDWARD, who became known as ‘The Elder’. Alfred was buried in Newminster Abbey, Winchester, and later his remains were translated to Hyde Abbey, where they stayed until the abbey was demolished following the Dissolution of the Monasteries. There is a possibility that one of Winchester Cathedral’s mortuary chests may hold the king’s bones.


ANGEVIN EMPIRE A name given to the dominions under the control of the counts of Anjou, known as the Angevins (also the Plantagenets), during their rule of England. Apart from England, it encompassed Anjou, Aquitaine, Maine, Normandy and Touraine. The ‘empire’ began with HENRY II when his marriage to ELEANOR, Duchess of Aquitaine and Countess of Poitou, in 1152 added Aquitaine to his existing territories, which then included England after he had succeeded his second cousin STEPHEN in 1154.


ANGLO-SAXON CHRONICLE At the end of the ninth century KING ALFRED inaugurated the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle, a year-by-year record of events written in Old English by clerks in various monastic centres. Existing copies provide rich accounts of the reigns of Alfred, Ethelred the Unready, Edward the Confessor and the Norman kings in particular.


ANNE The reign of Queen Anne, the last of the Stuarts to occupy the throne, was of great significance for the English monarchy. She was the last sovereign to preside at Cabinet meetings, the last to refuse assent to a parliamentary bill and the last to touch for the King’s Evil. Born at ST JAMES’S PALACE on 6 February 1665 – the year of the Great Plague – Anne was the second daughter of JAMES, Duke of York, and Anne Hyde. She and her older sister Mary were the only children to survive out of the eight born to the duke and duchess, and from birth she was afflicted with ailments which were to cause distress all her life.


In 1667 Anne’s mother died and two years later her father married Mary of Modena, a Roman Catholic like himself. As a future king of a Protestant country it was James’s devotion to his faith that was his biggest drawback, and CHARLES II made sure that his little nieces, who were in the line of succession, were brought up as Protestants by Colonel Edward Villiers and his wife Lady Frances at Richmond. It was a claustrophobic world the sisters entered, for the Villiers had six daughters, and the only males they came in contact with were members of the clergy. This resulted in both Anne and Mary forming over-intense relationships with their childhood companions, especially with Frances Apsley, who subsequently became Lady Bathurst. Later Anne became infatuated with a friend named Sarah Jennings and when Sarah married John Churchill their relationship remained strong.


On 28 July 1683 Anne was married to Prince George of Denmark, the brother of King Christian V. The prince was 30 and unremarkable except for his faithfulness to his wife. With her married status Anne was given a regular establishment and her first act was to appoint her beloved Sarah Churchill as her Lady of the Bedchamber.


In her self-vindicating conduct of the Duchess of Marlborough Sarah explained that Anne ‘grew uneasy to be treated by me with the ceremony due to her rank’ and she proposed ‘we might in all our letters write ourselves by feigned names such as would import nothing of distinction of rank between us’. Thus the queen became ‘Mrs Morley’ and Sarah ‘Mrs Freeman’. The equality between the two did not last long, as timid ‘Mrs Morley’ allowed herself to be dominated by frank and forceful ‘Mrs Freeman’.


When Charles II died in February 1685 Anne’s father JAMES II succeeded him without difficulty despite his Roman Catholicism, and during her father’s reign Anne lived in retirement, preoccupied with a series of unsuccessful pregnancies. In June 1688 she heard a son had been born to her father and his second wife, Mary of Modena. The arrival of a Catholic heir to the throne brought about the GLORIOUS REVOLUTION. Leading members of both the Whig and Tory parties secretly invited Protestant WILLIAM OF ORANGE and his wife MARY (Anne’s sister), the daughter of James II, to take the English Crown. In November, William arrived at Tor Bay and when King James heard that his chief commander, John Churchill, had deserted him he realised his cause was lost. On 11 December 1688 he fled to France and into exile.


The powerful influence Sarah and her husband had on Anne became apparent in the following debates on the ACT OF SETTLEMENT, persuading her to acquiesce to William and Mary as joint sovereigns, and after their coronation in April 1689 John Churchill was created Earl of Marlborough.


Three months later Anne was successfully delivered of the heir presumptive who was christened William, Duke of Gloucester. Alas for Anne – five days after his 11th birthday on 30 July 1700, the little Duke of Gloucester died from hydrocephalus. The death of the heir presumptive caused Parliament to fear a Jacobite succession and at King William’s suggestion the Crown was entailed so that if Anne failed to have more children, it would go to the Electress Sophia of Hanover, a granddaughter of JAMES I.


The following year the exiled James II died and Louis XIV recognised his son James (the Old Pretender) as the rightful King of England. As a consequence war with France came closer. Six months later King William died following a fall from his horse and Anne became queen. Due to gout and her many pregnancies, Anne was so obese that she had to be carried in a chair from Westminster Hall to the abbey for her coronation on 23 April 1702, but when she addressed Parliament her manner made a very good impression.


Now 37, with an ineffectual husband and unlikely to have another child, a lonely and difficult reign stretched before her. It seemed natural that she should turn more and more to the Marlboroughs for companionship. Marlborough was given the Order of the Garter, made Captain-General of England’s forces and Master-General of the Ordinance and Ranger of Windsor Park, while his wife became Groom of the Stole, Keeper of the Privy Purse and Mistress of the Robes.


In the reign that followed affinities between political figures mingled, shifted and disintegrated like the colours of an oil slick. It was never a straight-forward question of government by Whigs or Tories. Individual aspirations, religious schisms and the question of a Stuart or Hanoverian succession clouded the political scene. The key to everything was the queen’s favour, as she could choose and dismiss ministers. To pluck the strings of the royal marionette was the object of ‘Mrs Freeman’.


When Anne came to the throne she had been dominated by Sarah Churchill for years, and through this infatuation the Duke of Marlborough expected to become the real ruler of England. At this time the queen was pro-Tory but when it suited the Marlboroughs to align themselves with the Whigs, Anne dutifully changed her views. By now the queen, starting to tire of her favourite’s domineering manner, turned to a young woman named Abigail Hill, who had been introduced into the court by Sarah to be her Mistress of the Bedchamber. Little is known about Abigail, though Sir Winston Churchill wrote that she was ‘probably the smallest person who ever consciously attempted to decide, and in fact did decide, the history of Europe’. Abigail became as politically motivated as Sarah, especially after her marriage in 1707 to the queen’s page, Samuel Masham.


Marlborough’s four great victories in the Low Countries gave England more military glory than ever before, which encouraged Sarah to become ever more dictatorial.


In 1707 Lord Godolphin completed union with Scotland but now followed political strife between the ruling anti-Stuart Whig party and the Tories. The Whigs won the first general election covering all Britain in May 1708, and they demonstrated their new power by insisting that Prince George should give up his position as Lord High Admiral. Soon afterwards the prince suffered a serious attack of dropsy and it was obvious that he was dying. At the same time news came of Marlborough’s victory at Oudenarde and on 19 August the queen was obliged to take part in a procession to St Paul’s Cathedral to thank the Almighty for favouring the British side. As the procession entered the cathedral Sarah quarrelled bitterly with the queen, who retorted so loudly the duchess was alarmed in case the congregation should overhear and even join in. When they had taken their seats the queen continued to answer the criticism at the top of her voice, whereupon Sarah cried, ‘Hold your tongue.’


The matter did not end there. The duchess, having received a letter from her husband criticising the queen, sent it to Anne with a note that read: ‘I cannot help sending your majesty this letter, to show how exactly Lord Marlborough agrees with me in opinion that he has now no interest with you.’ Soon afterwards, when the queen was at the bedside of her dying husband, a letter from Sarah was put in her hand which began: ‘Though the last time I had the honour to wait upon your majesty, your usage of me was such as was scarce possible for me to imagine, or anyone to believe. . . .’ Anne had only read this far when Sarah herself entered the chamber. Anne received her coldly and according to an eyewitness ‘the deportment of the Duchess of Marlborough, while the Prince was actually dying, was of such a nature, that the Queen, then in the height of her grief, was unable to bear it’. ‘Withdraw!’ she cried, and for once ‘Mrs Freeman’ obeyed ‘Mrs Morley’.


On the evening of 6 April 1710, ‘Mrs Morley’ met ‘Mrs Freeman’ for the last time. The extraordinary interview lasted an hour, during which all Anne would answer to Sarah’s arguments was ‘Whatever you have to say, you may write it.’ When the Duke of Marlborough returned from his Flemish campaigns, he asked for a private audience with the queen when he tried to get his wife reinstated, but Anne’s only reply was that she wished to receive back her gold keys as Mistress of the Robes. Obediently he asked Sarah for the keys, and in fury she flung them at his head. Anxious not to follow his wife into retirement, he took them meekly to Anne who received them ‘with far greater pleasure than if he had brought her the spoils of an enemy’.


‘Mrs Morley’ had finally defeated ‘Mrs Freeman’ and the triumph was celebrated by Abigail being given Sarah’s old post as Mistress of the Robes.


Apart from the rise to power of the Tories, the most significant development of the ‘great change’ was that following Marlborough’s dismissal from his post of Captain-General, negotiations for peace with France went forward and the Treaty of Utrecht was signed in March 1713.


On 1 August 1714 the queen had an apoplectic fit. Two days later she died, and on the night of 24 August purple-draped horses drew her coffin, described as almost square because of her bulk, to WESTMINSTER ABBEY where it was interred in Henry VII’s chapel beside Prince George.


ANNE OF BOHEMIA The sister of Bohemia’s King Wenceslas, Anne was married to RICHARD II and crowned at Westminster Abbey in 1382; in the same year she was made a Lady of the Garter. She died of plague in 1394 and was interred in WESTMINSTER ABBEY.


See also RICHARD II


ANNE OF DENMARK The daughter of Frederick II of Denmark, Anne was married in 1589 to JAMES VI of Scotland by proxy as the match was opposed by ELIZABETH I. James then travelled to Norway to bring her to Scotland. She was noted for the extravagance of the royal court and her encouragement of art after her husband became JAMES I of England.


ANOINTING OIL The Old Testament alludes to the anointing and crowning of kings, and in medieval times the act of anointing with holy oil became an integral part of the coronation ceremony, investing the new king with a spiritual aspect which was later exemplified in the DIVINE RIGHT OF KINGS. Originally it was the head of the king that was anointed but later on other parts of the body; the breast, shoulders, arms and hands were included in the ritual. The oil used in coronations was known as ‘the oil of the catechumens’ (the name derives from Christian converts under instruction before baptism) and was second only to ‘chrism’, a consecration ungent prepared from olive oil and balsam and used only in the most sacred Church rites.


When Clovis, the King of the Franks, was crowned a very special anointing oil was used. It was said that the Holy Spirit in the form of a dove brought it down from heaven in a vessel that became known as the Sainte Ampoule and was placed in the altar for the coronation. In following French coronations a drop of this miraculous oil mixed with chrism was used for the anointing of kings. Later, chrism oil became part of the English ritual, probably being used for the first time at the crowning of EDWARD II in 1307. Meanwhile, a story of celestial oil became current in England in which the Virgin Mary appeared to THOMAS A BECKET and gave him oil to be used, at some future time, in crowning ceremonies of English kings. In 1318 Pope John XXII wrote to King Edward giving an account of this divine gift and the later discovery of the vessel that held it.


It was the use of chrism in the coronation ceremony that gave rise to the belief that the sovereign was able to cure scrofula by his or her laying on of hands which became known as KING’S EVIL. Although the use of chrism did not survive the Reformation, the royal touch as a scrofula cure persisted into the reign of Queen Anne.


AQUITAINE An independent duchy within the French kingdom, Aquitaine was originally a Roman province in the south-west of France. When HENRY II, who had married ELEANOR OF AQUITAINE, inherited the throne of England in 1154 Aquitaine became an English dominion. It remained so until 1453 when the French defeated the English at the Battle of Castillon, the last battle to be fought in the Hundred Years’ War.


ARBROATH, DECLARATION OF Described as Scotland’s ‘Declaration of Independence’, it was a letter written at Arbroath in 1320 by Scottish nobles to Pope John XXII. It sought recognition of Scottish independence and castigated England for its attempts to subjugate Scotland. In effect the letter was an answer to the pope’s threat to excommunicate ROBERT I (‘The Bruce’) for failing to obey the papal injunction to observe a truce with England. As a result of the declaration Robert won papal recognition as Scotland’s king.


ARMADA, SPANISH After attacking Cadiz early in 1587, Sir Francis Drake returned to England with the news that PHILIP II of Spain, the widower of QUEEN MARY, had prepared a fleet to invade England. His Armada consisted of 129 ships, carrying twenty thousand soldiers, and was intended to escort the Duke of Parma’s Spanish army from Dunkirk. ELIZABETH I was averse to spending money in preparing warships to counter the Spanish fleet. Of the force which finally set out to meet the Spaniards, only a third were financed by the royal purse, the rest were fitted out by patriotic merchants and the smaller seaports. The sighting of the great enemy fleet off the Lizard in the third week of July caused Lord High Admiral Howard to beg ‘for the love of God’ to have powder and shot supplied to him.


The Spaniards were disconcerted by the superior speed of the English ships and their raking broadsides, which had been the inspiration of HENRY VIII. Despite this, their numbers were almost intact when they anchored off Calais. Then, as the Armada moved on to join the Duke of Parma, it was struck by strong winds and swept past the rendezvous point. The weather worsened, and while only ten galleons had been sunk by English ships, more than fifty were lost in the storms.


Although the Armada was dispersed, the remote possibility of invasion continued to perturb the public. On 8 August the Queen visited the army at Tilbury and encouraged the troops with her famous speech: ‘I know I have but the body of a weak and feeble woman, but I have the heart of a King, and a King of England too; and think foul scorn that Parma or Spain, or any other prince of Europe . . ., should dare to invade the borders of my realm . . . I myself will be your general – the judge and rewarder of every one of your virtues in the field. I already know by your forwardness that you have deserved rewards and crowns . . .’


As for the ‘rewards and crowns’, they had no relevance as far as the treatment of the wounded English sailors was concerned. Lord Howard declared, ‘It is a pitiful sight to see men die in the streets of Margate.’ In contrast, the defeated Spaniards had hospitals waiting for them on their return.


The defeat of King Philip’s Armada resulted in England becoming the most commanding state in Europe and guaranteed the kingdom’s security for the rest of Elizabeth’s reign.


ARTHUR Although there is no historical evidence that Arthur existed, his story – or legend – is better known generally than the histories of many well-authenticated kings. No character from the past has been as widely commemorated in British place names; as the writer Dickenson has pointed out ‘only the devil is more often mentioned in local association than Arthur’. Modern opinion concerning Arthur is that it is most likely he was a Romanised British war leader who opposed and temporarily halted the invading Saxons at some time after the Roman withdrawal from Britain in AD 410, when the so-called Dark Ages began. From then on records ceased to be kept and for a period equal to that between the reigns of Elizabeth I and Elizabeth II there are only three sources of ‘historical’ material available.


The first known reference to Arthur is to be found in the seventh-century Welsh poem ‘Gododin’. Next, the Welsh author Nennius in his Historica Brittonum, written around the end of the eighth century, listed Arthur’s twelve victories over the Saxons. Other Welsh reference to Arthur is in the twelfth-century manuscript The Black Book of Carmarthen and in the romance of Kilhwch and Olwen, the first Arthurian story which included such characters as Kay, Bedevere and Gawain.


According to the Cambrian Annals, compiled c. 954, Arthur defeated a Saxon army at the unidentifiable Mount Badon where he carried ‘the cross of Lord Jesus on his shoulders’. Halfway through the sixth century the monk Gildas briefly referred to the Battle of Mount Badon in his De Excidio Brittanniae but made no mention of Arthur nor any other British leaders. The entry for the year AD 537 in the Cambrian Annals recorded the Battle of Camlann ‘in which Arthur and Medraut [Mordred] fell’.


From such scant allusions and oral tradition the epic of King Arthur was to develop into the world’s first best-seller and has continued as such. Between the years 1125 and 1130 William of Malmesbury, the librarian of the monastery of that name, visited Glastonbury Abbey to carry out research and was told by the Benedictine monks there of a Christian warrior king who had temporarily halted the Saxon invasion. Impressed by their accounts William wrote that Arthur was ‘a man clearly to be proclaimed in true histories’, and included two passages about him in his Gesta Regum Anglorum which chronicled the kings of England from AD 449 to his own time.


His example was followed a few years later by Geoffrey of Monmouth who treated Arthur as a historical person in his Historia Regum Britanniae. He drew upon the folklore of his day and a mysterious ‘British book’ which, if ever it existed, has certainly been long lost. Considering that printing had yet to be invented, the success of Geoffrey’s book was phenomenal. Scribes toiled to produce hundreds of copies in Norman French – there are still over fifty extant – and the shadowy Celtic warrior was transformed into a historical hero.


On the Continent the story continued to evolve, and under the elegant genius of Chrétien de Troyes new elements were introduced, such as Sir Launcelot and his ill-starred love for Arthur’s queen Guinevere, and the adventures of the individual knights of the ROUND TABLE. Above all he was responsible for the concept of ‘courtly love’ which so fired the imaginations of the members of QUEEN ELEANOR’s court at Poitiers.


Following the WARS OF THE ROSES, the story of King Arthur and the Fellowship of the Round Table as we know it today burst into its full glory through William Caxton’s printing of Le Morte D’Arthur, the 383,000-word masterpiece by Sir Thomas Malory. The story has magical elements and chivalrous adventures that would have had nothing in common with the life of the Arthur as a leader of Celtic warriors. Beginning with Arthur’s magical conception at Tintagel Castle, Malory’s epic continues with him proving his right to kingship by removing the sword from the stone, his receiving Excalibur from the Lady of the Lake, the formation of the Round Table Fellowship and the classic triangle of the king, Guinevere and Launcelot. A spiritual element enters the story with the vision of the Holy Grail and the knightly quests for it which lead to the break up of the Fellowship. Finally, Arthur slays Mordred, his secret son who has tried to usurp the Crown, at the Battle of Camlann and, grievously wounded, is borne away in a barge by three black-draped queens.


Malory did mention Arthur being taken to AVALON although earlier on a priest named Layamon had written in his work The Brut, the first long poem in Middle English, that ‘The Britons believe yet that he is alive, and dwelleth in Avalon . . . and ever yet the Britons look for Arthur’s coming.’


The importance of Arthur in the story of British monarchy is that regardless of whether he ever existed, his legend set a standard for kingship that was wise, just and heroic and, no matter how far sovereigns fell short of the ideal, this concept of what a king should be persisted down the ages in the minds of common folk.


ASHDOWN, BATTLE OF In January AD 871 the Danish ‘Great Army’, which had been ravaging the countryside from its base at Reading, suffered its first defeat at the Battle of Ashdown. The invaders were opposed by Ethelred, King of Wessex, and his brother ALFRED (the Great), at Ashdown on the Berkshire Downs. Both of the opposing armies were divided into two wings. The battle opened with Alfred leading his wing in a charge against the Danes, while his brother the King was still at his prayers. During the furious hand-to-hand fighting that followed Alfred was reinforced by the King’s wing, but it was not until some time later that Ethelred, his devotions completed, arrived on the scene with his personal guards and tipped the battle in favour of the Saxons. By nightfall the Danes were defeated. Soon afterwards, Ethelred died of wounds he received at the Battle of Merton, and Alfred was elected as king by the WITAN. A white horse portrayed on a chalk hillside overlooking the battle site – the Ashdown Horse – has been traditionally regarded as a monument to the Wessex victory.


See also ALFRED THE GREAT


ASHINGDON, THE BATTLE OF When ETHELRED II died in 1016 he was succeeded by his son EDMUND IRONSIDE. However, CANUTE, the son of SWEYN FORKBEARD, who for a few weeks had been King of England, laid claim to the throne. The final battle between the two contenders took place at Ashingdon, close to the River Crouch in Essex, on 18 October 1016. Edmund had camped on Ashingdon Hill – then known as Assandun – while Canute occupied a defensive position on a low hill at Canewdon, just over a mile away. While Canute’s followers were the more seasoned warriors, Edmund had superiority of numbers and this emboldened him to open the battle. He led his men in a charge down Ashingdon Hill towards the Danes and the armies met halfway between the two hills.


Edmund lost his advantage of numerical superiority when Eadric, the Earldorman of Mercia, defected and led his followers from the field. In the battle that ensued, ‘all the flower of the English nation’ was slain and victory went to Canute. Soon afterwards the two leaders met at Deerhurst in Gloucester, where they agreed to share the kingdom until either one died, whereupon the other would become King of England. Edmund died on 30 November of that year and on 6 January 1017 Canute was crowned at Old St Paul’s Cathedral. Later, to commemorate his victory, he built a church on Ashingdon Hill, which remains to this day.


ATHELSTAN The son of EDWARD THE ELDER and the grandson of ALFRED THE GREAT, Athelstan was born c. 895 and crowned at Kingston upon Thames in 924. The only flaw in the new reign was the new king’s illegitimacy, his mother Egwina having been his father’s mistress. Yet in this there was a hint of the marvellous. According to legend, Egwina was the daughter of a shepherd and one day while she was guarding her father’s flock she fell asleep and dreamed that a great globe of light ‘resembling the moon’ shone out of her body, miraculously sending its rays throughout the country. Later, she recounted her dream to the woman who had nursed EDWARD THE ELDER when he was a child, and seeing it as a divine omen, the royal nurse had Egwina groomed and educated, and introduced into court life where she was purposely put in the company of the king. The result was that he fell in love with her and she bore him two more children after Athelstan.


In the twelfth century William of Malmesbury described Athelstan thus: ‘. . . not beyond what is becoming in stature, and slender in body; his hair, as we ourselves have seen from his relics, flaxen, mingled with gold threads’.


Apart from being an inspired war leader, as one would expect from his pedigree, Athelstan became famous for his piety and enthusiasm for collecting holy relics. When Hugh, Duke of the Franks, was eager to arrange a match with the English king’s sister, he had his envoys present Athelstan with the lance that was said to have pierced the side of Christ as he hung on the Cross, a fragment of the True Cross and the Crown of Thorns set in crystal. Apart from his veneration for such mementoes, Athelstan supported the Church by a vigorous programme of monastery building.


With such a pious reputation it is curious that he became the first King of England to be described as a murderer thanks to a reference to the year 933 made by the chronicler Simeon of Durham which read: ‘King Athelstan ordered his brother Edwin to be drowned at sea.’ The tradition behind this cryptic sentence is that when he became king, Athelstan faced hostility from those who objected to his illegitimacy and preferred his half-brother Edwin who had been born in wedlock. However, his first task was to secure his kingdom against the Danes and the Scots.


The Danes of York had elected as their king Olaf Sihtricsson, who was supported in his designs against the Anglo-Saxons by his uncle Guthfrith, King of the Danes in Ireland, and who brought an army across the Irish Sea to reinforce his nephew. In reply Athelstan marched resolutely upon York, causing Olaf to flee to Ireland while Guthfrith sought the protection of King Constantine of Scotland. Athelstan followed this success by marching into Strathclyde where he ordered that the northern rulers should formally submit to his authority. This ceremony took place at Eamont in Cumbria – believed to have been at a site where Dacre Castle stands today – in July 927 when Hywel of Strathclyde, Constantine of Scotland and Owain of Gwent accepted Athelstan as their overlord. This underlined the supremacy of the English king and England was united as never before, though it left resentment smouldering in the hearts of Athelstan’s thwarted foes.


Having proved that he could be as formidable as his father, Athelstan turned to a more domestic threat to his Crown in 933. His cupbearer, hoping to profit from tale-bearing, warned him that Edwin was plotting against him and Athelstan had his half-brother arrested. Edwin denied any conspiracy but the king continued to believe in his guilt. Mindful how the execution of the young prince would affect his subjects, and not wishing to stain his hands with family blood, Athelstan ordered that Edwin should be placed in a small boat without provisions, oars, sail or rudder, and cast adrift out at sea so that he would perish through natural causes. Faced with a lingering death through thirst, Edwin preferred to throw himself over the side and drown.


When the news reached Athelstan the full impact of his act struck him and to assuage his guilt he founded the abbey of Middleton in Dorset where Masses were said regularly for the repose of Edwin’s soul. One day the cupbearer who had accused Edwin lost his balance as his foot slipped while serving at the high table. Using his other foot to save himself he made the fatal remark, ‘See how one brother helps another.’ The king read more into his words than the cupbearer had intended, and had him summarily executed.


In 937 Constantine formed an alliance with the Irish Danes under King Anlaf who sailed up the Humber in a fleet of over six hundred longships. The Scots and Danes joined forces with Owen, King of Cumbria and soon the North of England was at their mercy. It was not until the latter part of the year that Athelstan and his brother EDMUND were able to raise an army large enough to challenge the invaders. The two great armies – some estimates of the Danish–Scottish forces have been as high as sixty thousand – faced each other at a place known as Brunanburh. Historians have suggested three possible sites for the battle: Axminster; a spot between Rotherham and Derby; and Bromborough on the Mersey. Wherever it was, it became the setting for an extraordinary English victory after Athelstan began his dawn attack. The English army was divided into Saxon and Mercian contingents, the Saxons hurling themselves against the Scots while the Mercians attacked the Norsemen.


Following savage hand-to-hand fighting the invaders’ line broke and, according to the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle, ‘the whole day long the West Saxons with mounted companies kept in pursuit of the hostile peoples, grievously they cut down the fugitives from behind with their whetted swords’. During the fighting, five kings, the son of a Scottish king and seven earls were slain.


After the victory, the greatest so far achieved by the West Saxons, the Scots, Welsh and the Northumbrian Danes did homage to Athelstan, establishing him as the overlord of Britain and the most powerful monarch in west Europe.


In AD 940 Athelstan died and was interred in Malmesbury Abbey. He was succeeded by his halfbrother Edmund.


ATTAINDER, ACT OF An Act used to condemn persons – usually adversaries of the Crown or a party in power – of treason without them being put on trial. Those accused under the Act were ‘attainted’, which meant their rights and property were forfeited, and their descendants were disinherited. One of the most celebrated cases was that of Thomas Wentworth, 1st Earl of STRAFFORD, who as a supporter of CHARLES I was attainted by Parliament, after which the King was pressured into signing his death warrant. During the WARS OF THE ROSES it was estimated that around four hundred persons were attainted. The last case of attainder was in 1798 and the Act was cancelled in 1870.


AURELIANUS, AMBROSIUS Described as ‘the last of the Romans’, Ambrosius Aurelianus was a legendary leader of Britons. Like KING ARTHUR, he was said to have fought the Saxons who invaded Britain following the Roman withdrawal, and was credited with a great victory at the Battle of Mount Badon in AD 516 – a victory also attributed to King Arthur. Legend tells that Ambrosius Aurelianus employed Merlin to transport a number of standing stones – then known as the Giants’ Dance and today as Stonehenge – to Wiltshire as memorials to his warriors who had died fighting the Saxons.


AVALON Glastonbury has always been associated with the mysterious Isle of Avalon, pre-Norman Glastonbury being an ‘isle’ in that it was largely surrounded by swamps. GEOFFREY OF MONMOUTH wrote: ‘. . . the renowned KING ARTHUR himself was wounded deadly and was borne thence unto the island of Avalon for the healing of his wounds, where he gave up the crown unto his kinsman, Constantine, son of Cador in AD 542.’





B


BABINGTON PLOT In 1586 a Roman Catholic priest named John Ballard invited Anthony Babington to join a conspiracy to set MARY, QUEEN OF SCOTS upon the English throne with the assistance of Spain. Babington, who had been a page to the imprisoned queen and was one of her most enthusiastic supporters, fell in with the plan which would have involved the assassination of ELIZABETH I. The plot was discovered by Sir FRANCIS WALSINGHAM who used it to seal Mary’s fate. Babington, arrested with five others, tried to put the blame on Ballard but still received the death sentence for treason.


BALMORAL QUEEN VICTORIA and her consort Prince ALBERT had been married for eight years when in 1848 they leased the Balmoral estate in Aberdeenshire with the enthusiasm that reflected their love of Scotland. Here Balmoral Castle, which had begun as a hunting lodge for ROBERT II of Scotland, would not only provide them with the opportunity to enjoy family life away from the capital, but presented Albert with the possibility of exercising his talent for architecture and design. This was not feasible while the property was leased, so in 1852 they bought the estate of over 17,000 acres in a private transaction with money that had come to Victoria in a bequest, which meant that, unlike Britain’s royal palaces, Balmoral was not owned by the Crown.


Although the Queen wrote that the original house was ‘a pretty little castle in the old Scotch style’, it was decided to build a new residence. A site was chosen close to the existing building. Albert and his architect William Smith planned a ‘Scotch baronial’ castle whose numerous candle-snuffer turrets, castellated portico and high square tower evoked Scotland’s ‘chateau’ castles that had been inspired by the ‘auld alliance’. Its setting was particularly romantic with a backdrop of woods and hills surmounted by Lochnagar, scenery that reminded Albert of his youth in Thuringa. Gardens were laid out and in the autumn of 1855 the original building had disappeared and the new granite castle with its 180 windows was ready for occupation.


While the new Balmoral was planned for Victoria and Albert to enjoy as a homely retreat with their children, the Queen could not escape the fact that she was sovereign of Great Britain and its empire, so a state drawing-room and a suite for visiting ministers were included, and remain for this purpose. Thus the advance of the railway into this previously remote area and the newly invented electric telegraph meant that the Queen could spend many weeks at Balmoral without neglecting her duties. The largest room in the castle is the ballroom, where the royal couple hosted an annual Gillies’ Ball.


Victoria’s pride in Albert’s power shows in an entry in her journal: ‘My heart becomes more fixed in this dear Paradise and so much more so now that all has become my dearest Albert’s own creation, own work, own building, own laying-out, as at Osborne: and his great taste and the impress of his dear hand, have been stamped everywhere.’


Albert’s creative interest did not end with the completion of the new Balmoral; his interior work included designing furniture of pine and maple whose silver hinges he had made incorporating his initials with those of the Queen. He also designed a special Balmoral tartan for the carpets and hangings. Indeed, his enthusiasm for tartans and things Scottish, such as bagpipe music, Highland reels and local dress, inspired jokes in the royal circle. He also enjoyed the outdoor life that the Highlands offered, including hunting. After his death in 1861 his grieving widow had a monument erected to his memory at the place where he had shot his last stag. During her long widowhood Victoria continued to visit Balmoral and obtain solace from its memories.


Today, Balmoral remains the summer holiday residence for members of the royal family where they attend the church in the nearby village of Crathie. In 1979 a part of the estate’s forest was enclosed by the Duke of Edinburgh to create a regeneration project which, because of its progress, was enlarged by another 750 acres in 1995.


BALMORAL, COMTESSE DE In 1897, when Queen Victoria visited the south of France by train, she travelled under the pseudonym of the Comtesse de Balmoral.


BANNOCKBURN, BATTLE OF In the early part of 1314, ROBERT I (‘The Bruce’) of Scotland, laid siege to Stirling Castle. As the garrison’s food supply dwindled Sir Philip de Mowbray, the governor, came to an agreement with the besiegers that if he was not relieved by 24 June he would open the gates to them. His tactic was to force EDWARD II to come to his aid and it also had the effect of forcing Robert Bruce into a pitched battle with an English army led by the English King, which was something he had always tried to avoid. On 23 June the two armies cautiously approached each other at the place where the Bannock burn flowed two miles south of Stirling. At the head of the main English column rode Sir Henry de Bohun. When de Bohun saw Bruce ahead of his troops and without an escort, the opportunity for gaining a victory before the battle had begun was too tempting to miss. Lowering his lance, the English knight spurred towards Bruce who, at the last moment pulled his horse to one side and, as Sir Henry went past, buried the blade of his battle-axe in his skull.


This opening engagement was a portent of the Scots’ success. Though they fought well during the day, as darkness gathered Bruce considered retreating before the numerically superior enemy. It was an English deserter who convinced him that the morale of the troops had ebbed and that he should make a determined advance on the following day. This Bruce did and though Edward was said to have ‘fought like a lion’, according to the Chronicle of Edward II, ‘he had to fly, and when the royal banner was seen retreating the whole army broke up.’ The effect of the Scots’ victory was to reaffirm Scotland’s independence.


BANQUETING HOUSE Remembered in history as the place from where CHARLES I stepped out to his execution, the Banqueting House in Whitehall is all that remains of Whitehall Palace, which was destroyed by fire in 1691. Seventy-two years before, its original Banqueting House had been burned down, and its magnificent replacement, designed by Inigo Jones, was opened in 1622 and was celebrated by a performance of The Masque of Angers by Ben Jonson. Under the painted ceiling representing the blessings of Enlightened Rule, which Rubens completed in 1635, important state functions were performed such as the welcoming of foreign ambassadors, the traditional St George’s Day banquet for the Knights of the Garter and the monarch’s ‘touching for the KING’S EVIL’.


It was on 30 January 1649 that King Charles calmly walked out through one of the windows to the scaffold, and it was there that CHARLES II celebrated his restoration eleven years later.


JAMES II had a weather vane set up on the building to warn of a wind that would bring his daughter and son-in-law to take his throne in the approaching GLORIOUS REVOLUTION. When WILLIAM AND MARY did arrive in England, it was in the Banqueting House that representatives of the Lords and Commons offered them the Crown.


Royal occasions ceased at the Banqueting House after the Whitehall Palace fire and Sir Christopher Wren converted it into the Chapel Royal as a successor to the one that had been burned. In 1890 it became a military museum, but in 1963 its interior was restored to its original appearance and opened to the public.


BARON The title baron was originally applicable to all vassals of kings, lords and bishops, but later was restricted to the greater barons who in England alone had the right to receive a writ of summons to Parliament. Today, the title is the lowest of the five ranks in the British peerage, being below that of VISCOUNT.


BARONS’ WAR The name given to the conflict between HENRY III and the barons supporting Simon de Montfort in the four years following 1264. See also HENRY III


BASILIKON DORON JAMES I wrote the Basilikon Doron for Prince Henry, his eldest son, in which he expressed his philosophy of government and kingship. It was published anonymously in 1599 and was less controversial than his Trew Law of Free Monarchies, issued the previous year, in which he expounded his belief in the DIVINE RIGHT OF KINGS.


BATH For centuries Britain’s most famous healing waters flowed from the mineral springs of Bath. They were first recognised by Bladud, the father of King Lear, whose story was the inspiration of Shakespeare’s play. Bladud was the leper son of the legendary British king Lud Hudibras and because of the horror his disease inspired he was exiled from his father’s court. As an outcast he could only survive as a swineherd, wandering in the wilderness away from his fellow men. So contagious was his malady that the pigs in his care became infected, and in order to find relief one day they ran into a malodorous bog. When Bladud retrieved them he was amazed to see that their leprous sores had vanished. He then plunged into the mud and he too was wondrously cured and able to return to his father’s court; he proved his identity by means of a ring his mother had given him. When he became king, he had well shafts dug in the vicinity of the bog where he had been restored to health and a settlement was established there.


With the arrival of the Romans, lavish baths were constructed close to a temple which, with typical Roman pragmatism, was dedicated to Sulis Minerva – Minerva being the Roman goddess of healing while Sul was a Celtic deity. Following the Roman withdrawal from Britain in the fifth century the baths were neglected and largely forgotten. Thanks to ANNE OF DENMARK, wife of JAMES I, ‘taking the waters’ of Bath for dropsy, the spa came into its own again. In the eighteenth century Beau Nash, as Master of Ceremonies, transformed it into a centre of fashion which was patronised by the Prince Regent.


BATH, ORDER OF THE Originally, initiation into the Order of the Bath was preceded by immersion in a bath symbolising the purity required of its members by the laws of chivalry. The Order goes back to the reign of HENRY IV and is composed of three classes: the first, Knights Grand Cross; the second, Knights Commanders; and third, Companions. Until 1847 it was a military order but since then civil servants have been eligible. Honorary membership may be bestowed on foreign nationals but the title of ‘Sir’ is withheld.


The Knights Grand Cross is composed of up to 150 knights and dames; Knights Commanders, 295; and Companions, 1455. The Order’s chapel is Henry VII’s Chapel at WESTMINSTER ABBEY where the arms of senior knights of the Grand Cross are displayed on their stalls above which their banners are suspended. Every four years members attend a service of remembrance in the chapel in the presence of the Grand Master, currently Prince Charles, and every eight years the service is attended by the sovereign.


The motto of the Order is Tria juncta in uno – ‘Three united in one’.


BATTLE ABBEY After the Battle of Hastings, WILLIAM, Duke of Normandy knelt and promised God that he would build a magnificent Benedictine abbey on the battlefield in gratitude for his victory. Known as the Field of Senlac, it was so littered with corpses after the fighting that in his poem Harold Lord Alfred Tennyson described it as


Sonlac! Sanguelac,


The lake of Blood.


Here amid the dead and dying William and his knights sat at trestle tables for a celebratory banquet.


After he became King of England, William kept his vow and the abbey, dedicated to St Martin, rose on the spot where King HAROLD and his loyal housecarls had made their last stand. The high altar marks the exact spot where Harold was killed. Time has eroded the building and today all that marks the location of Harold’s death is a commemorative tablet.


BAYEUX TAPESTRY According to tradition it was Queen Matilda and her ladies who created the remarkable piece of embroidery, known as the Bayeux Tapestry, in which is depicted the conquest of England by her husband WILLIAM I. The events leading up to the Conquest and scenes of the Battle of Hastings are portrayed on a 20in wide band of linen 231ft in length. Worked in worsted threads of eight colours, the unique pictorial history begins just prior to Harold’s visit to Bosham on his journey to Normandy, his entertainment at William’s court, his swearing of fealty to William and other events which led up to the construction of the Norman fleet and the invasion of England. Of great interest to historians down the ages is the detail with which such subjects as shipbuilding, the serving of food and the construction of the Normans’ earthworks at Hastings are depicted.


The tapestry was first referred to in the fifteenth century when once a year it was brought out and displayed along the nave of Bayeux Cathedral. During the French Revolution it narrowly escaped destruction on two occasions but soon afterwards it was put on view in Paris at Napoleon’s command. Later it was returned to Bayeux where it may be seen today.


BAYNARD’S CASTLE One of the oldest of Britain’s vanished palaces – and the most rebuilt – was Baynard’s Castle, which WILLIAM I built along with Montfichet’s Castle and the White Tower in order to control the dangerous population of London. Built on the Thames bank at Blackfriars, it took its name from its first custodian, Ralph Baynard, who had come to England with the Norman Conquest. In 1111 it passed into the hands of the Fitzwalter family, lords of Dunmow in Essex, whose most celebrated member was Robert, who is remembered in history for leading the barons who forced KING JOHN to agree to MAGNA CARTA in 1215.


Three years previously the King had demolished the castle on account of Robert’s growing opposition to him, but there is a more fanciful legend to explain the demolition. It was said that John developed an indelicate passion for Robert’s beautiful daughter Matilda, but the girl, supported by her father, resolutely refused to become his mistress. To thwart the royal desires of a king such as John was to invite disaster. Matilda was imprisoned in the Tower of London, where, according to this piece of royal folklore, she was murdered by a poisonous powder sprinkled on a poached egg. Robert, meanwhile, had sought sanctuary in France and the king expressed his displeasure by destroying his home.


Sometime after John had died Robert Fitzwalter was able to return and rebuild the castle east of Blackfriars and overlooking the Thames as before. Later it became a royal property which HENRY VI bestowed on his uncle the Duke of Gloucester, the younger brother of HENRY V and known as the ‘good Duke Humphrey’, who had to rebuild it again after it was destroyed by fire in 1428.


After his victory over the House of Lancaster, Edward, Earl of March, was staying at Baynard’s when the council, which included WARWICK THE KINGMAKER and the Archbishop of Canterbury, arrived to offer him the Crown which he accepted to become EDWARD IV. It was also in the castle that RICHARD, DUKE OF GLOUCESTER, received a similar deputation led by the Duke of Buckingham and agreed to become Richard III.


After Henry VII came to the throne he decided to rebuild Baynard’s, making it more of a palace and less of a castle. Its square fabric, which rose regally above the neighbouring buildings, enclosed a courtyard, and there was a walled garden and stairs running down to the river for embarking on royal barges. Its appointments gave a foretaste of the luxury that was to be the hallmark of Tudor courts.


In 1505 the ill-fated Prince Arthur and his betrothed CATHERINE OF ARAGON stayed there and later the place became the jointure of Catherine until it passed to Anne Boleyn, and after she fell from royal favour King Henry granted it to his illegitimate son the Duke of Richmond in 1536. He died soon afterwards and by 1540 Anne of Cleves was in residence.


After Henry’s death LADY JANE GREY was proclaimed queen within its walls, and shortly afterward the procedure was repeated for MARY TUDOR. Before long a new wing replaced several former buildings and this was to be the last of the demolition and reconstruction that had been such a characteristic of the palace. The last sovereign to dine there was CHARLES II in 1666. A few days later it was destroyed in the Great Fire of London and was not rebuilt. Today a public house, suitably named ‘The Baynard Castle’, stands on the old palace site at the corner of Queen Victoria Street and St Andrew’s Hill.


BECKET, THOMAS À When HENRY II proposed that his boon companion Thomas à Becket should become Archbishop of Canterbury – the king wishing to have an ally in the Church – Becket replied, ‘You will take your favour from me and our love will become hatred.’ Nevertheless he accepted the role and in a Damascene conversion changed from being a wealthy, pleasure-loving courtier, to a champion of the Church, defending it against the king’s demands to a point where a feud developed between the erstwhile friends. On one famous occasion, provoked beyond endurance by Becket’s behaviour, Henry fell into a rage that appeared to endorse the legend that the Plantagenets had satanic blood in their veins, and uttered the fateful words, ‘What a parcel of fools and dastards have I nourished in my house! Not one of them will avenge me of this one upstart clerk.’ Taking his words literally, four knights – Reginald FirzUrse, William Trach, Hugh de Morville and Richard Brito – hurried from the king’s Normandy court and reached Canterbury on 29 December 1170. At the cathedral Becket calmly greeted them but almost immediately was killed by a sword blow.


Thomas à Becket’s murder sent a ripple of horror across Christendom. When the pope threatened to excommunicate Henry unless he unconditionally accepted the demands of the Church, the king hurried to Ireland. He landed at Waterford with an army of four thousand on 18 October 1171, having left an order that no one should follow unless summoned. This ensured that no letters of excommunication would reach him. Cut off from the outside world, Henry put into action his plan to get himself back in favour with the Vatican by subjugating Ireland which was then faithful to the Celtic Church. When the Irish clergy submitted to him formally at Cashel, the king was able to bargain with the pope – a Roman Catholic Ireland in return for lifting the threat of excommunication. In Normandy he was absolved from the crime after doing penance before papal legates.


In the death of Thomas à Becket the Church gained a hold over the English king, a new saint, and Ireland, while England gained the most remarkable shrine in its history, ranking only with St Peter’s of Rome and the shrine of St James of Compostela. In 1173 Pope Alexander III canonised Becket and this added impetus to the expansion of his cult. Shiploads of Continental pilgrims were ferried over from France to swell the streams of hopeful humanity heading for Canterbury. Fifty years after St Thomas’s death his remains were translated to the new chapel behind the high altar. In those days the altar was in a lower position than today, level with the present altar rails, allowing the shrine to become the glittering focal point of the cathedral. Covered with gold and gems, it has been described as being one of the greatest concentrations of portable wealth in England. Although Becket’s shrine was demolished by order of HENRY VIII, its site in Canterbury Cathedral remains a place of pilgrimage today.


BLACK PRINCE A prince who should have been a king, Edward of Woodstock found a place in England’s pantheon of semi-legendary heroes. According to Froissart he became known as the Black Prince because he was ‘styled black by terror of his arms’. On 15 June 1330 he was born at WOODSTOCK PALACE, the eldest son of EDWARD III who claimed that, following the death of Charles IV of France, he should have inherited the French throne through his mother Queen ISABELLA. In 1346 Edward took an army of fifteen thousand men to Normandy and with him went the 16-year-old Edward to win his spurs on the field of Crécy. A truce was finally agreed between King Edward and King Philip and the first act of the Hundred Years’ War was over.


The second act came in 1356 when on 19 September the Black Prince won a victory at Poitiers in which he captured many nobles and John, the new King of France. These distinguished prisoners were taken to England where Edward entertained them with a series of pageants and tournaments. The ransom set for the French king was so high that his subjects resumed the war with England while he continued to live in England in great comfort.


Once more King Edward with his sons, the Black Prince and JOHN OF GAUNT, crossed the Channel with an army and on 28 October 1359 they reached the walls of Paris. According to a contemporary writer, it was a ‘foul dark day of mist and hail, and so bitter cold that sitting on horseback men died. Wherefore, unto this day it is called Black Monday, and will be for a long time hereafter.’ Paris was blockaded for nearly two months, but its walls were too strong for the besiegers and in 1360 a treaty was signed in which Edward renounced his claim to the French crown and in return the French agreed to pay 3 million gold crowns for their king – a debt which was never honoured.


In 1361 Prince Edward married Joan, the daughter of Edmund, Earl of Kent, and granddaughter of EDWARD I. They had two sons, the first Edward, born in 1365, who lived for six years, and Richard, born in 1367 who later became RICHARD II.


Following the campaign in France King Edward took a less active interest in the affairs of state, handing over many of his responsibilities to John of Gaunt and the Black Prince who in 1362 was made Prince of Aquitaine. His administration was censured as harsh by Charles V of France, who had succeeded King John, and he was summoned to Paris to answer charges of misrule. In reply he attacked Limoges. The town’s walls were too massive for the usual assault so a tunnel was dug which caused a section to collapse. At dawn on 19 September 1370 English troops streamed through the gap, and because he was then suffering from dropsy the Black Prince was borne on a litter in the tradition of RICHARD COEUR DE LION and EDWARD I. But while he had been a beau ideal of knightly virtue for so long, he was carried into a massacre. With his bearers slipping on bloody cobbles, the prince shouted encouragement to his men until the streets were piled with the corpses of innocent citizens.


In 1375 ill-health forced him to give up the governorship of Aquitaine and he died on 8 June the following year at the PALACE OF WESTMINSTER and was interred in Canterbury Cathedral.


BLENHEIM PALACE As a reward for his devastating victory over the French and Bavarian armies at the Battle of Blenheim in 1704, John Churchill, 1st Duke of Marlborough was given the royal manor of Woodstock in Oxfordshire by QUEEN ANNE. It was here that the building of the magnificent Blenheim Palace was begun in the same year by Sir John Vanbrugh. The palace continued to belong to the Churchill family, Sir Winston Churchill being born there in 1874. Following his death in 1965 he was interred in Bladon churchyard which is situated next to Blenheim Park.


BLOOD, COLONEL THOMAS Known in history as the man who nearly stole the CROWN JEWELS, the Irish adventurer Colonel Thomas Blood was on the Parliamentary side during the English Civil War with the result that he lost his estate at the Restoration. On the morning of 15 March 1671, dressed as a clergyman, he entered the TOWER OF LONDON with three friends. On reaching the chamber where the royal regalia was kept, Blood felled the Keeper of the Jewels with a mallet he had secreted under his clerical robe. The quartet then made off with the crown and orb.


The alarm was soon raised and the thieves pursued and apprehended. While the penalty for such a crime would have been the gallows or worse, CHARLES II, perhaps amused at Blood’s audacity, visited the rogue in prison, gave him a pardon and a position at court, and returned his estate to him. Such royal benevolence led to the rumour that the king, who was always in need of money, had colluded with the reckless colonel in a plan to turn the regalia gems into hard cash for their mutual advantage.


BOLEYN, ANNE Born in 1504, Anne Boleyn was the daughter of Sir Thomas Boleyn and Elizabeth Howard, daughter of the Duke of Norfolk. In 1519 Anne went to the French court. When she returned to England in 1521 she became a maid of honour to QUEEN CATHERINE. At this time HENRY VIII had become dissatisfied with his marriage as the queen had failed to provide a male heir to the throne. Within a year he became infatuated with Anne, who realised from ELIZABETH WOODVILLE’s association with EDWARD IV that virtue could be sometimes more profitable than vice. Marriage was the price of her bed. An elusive love was a new experience for the King and he delighted in wooing the reluctant maid of honour. Although he usually found writing tedious, he penned many lengthy letters to her and composed a poem, a verse of which read:


Now unto my lady,


Promise to her I make


For all other only


To her I me betake.


The object of this royal poetry was not generally considered – as the Venetian ambassador put it – ‘one of the handsomest women in the world’. He added, ‘She is of middling stature, swarthy complexion, long neck, wide mouth, bosom not much raised, and in fact has nothing but the English King’s great appetite and her eyes which are black and beautiful.’


In 1527 Henry began his campaign to get his marriage to Catherine declared invalid, and Anne rewarded him with her favours. As the proceedings dragged on they became openly amorous. In one letter to Anne the king wrote: ‘Mine own sweetheart, this shall be to advertise you of the great elengeness (loneliness) that I find since your departing. I think of your kindness and my fervencies of love; for otherwise I would not have thought it possible that for so little a while it should have grieved me . . . Wishing myself – especially of an evening – in my sweetheart’s arms, whose pretty dukkys [breasts] I trust shortly to kiss.’


Anne was created Marchioness of Pembroke. She travelled with the royal retinue and had her own apartments, though at court she was referred to as ‘The Concubine’. Determined not to remain ‘The Concubine’ Anne sensed that CARDINAL WOLSEY was opposed to a royal divorce and at supper one night she told Henry that Wolsey deserved to lose his head. It was the beginning of the cardinal’s downfall. Early in 1531 Thomas Cromwell became one of the king’s chief ministers and he engineered Henry’s break with Rome, because of the Pope’s refusal to grant an annulment.


In January 1533, with the Reformation under way, the King secretly married the now pregnant Anne. In May ARCHBISHOP CRANMER duly declared the marriage to be legal and in September Anne gave birth to the future ELIZABETH I. In January 1536 the discarded Queen Catherine died and on the day of her funeral Anne had a stillborn child, said to have been brought about by the shock of finding Henry with JANE SEYMOUR sitting on his lap. Once more the king despaired of having a son to inherit his crown.


On the following May Day, Henry and Anne attended a tournament at Greenwich, which the king suddenly quit to the bewilderment of the spectators. The next day Anne realised the significance of her husband’s abrupt departure when she was charged with committing adultery with three gentlemen of the privy chamber and a musician, and with having committed incest with her brother Lord Rochford.


On 12 May her four alleged paramours were condemned for high treason, which meant that her case was in effect judged before she was brought to trial. One of the peers who pronounced them guilty was Anne’s father, thereby implying the guilt of his daughter. Three days later she and her brother appeared before twenty-six peers and each gave a verdict of guilty. Anne’s own uncle, Thomas Howard, 3rd Duke of Norfolk, presided over her judges and pronounced her death sentence.


On 19 May 1536, two days after her brother had been executed, Anne was led to Tower Green in the TOWER OF LONDON where she declared to the assembled nobility and London aldermen that she accused no one of her death, and, while not acknowledging the charges that had been brought against her, expressed submission to the law. The manner of her death was a novelty for the spectators, because an executioner had been brought from Calais to strike off her head with a sword, a French custom which until then was unknown in England. Her body was interred in the Tower’s chapel of ST PETER AD VINCULA.


On the day of Anne’s execution, Henry visited Jane Seymour, and Archbishop Cranmer issued a dispensation allowing their wedding to take place without the usual banns. The marriage was performed privately on 30 May. Cranmer also declared the King’s union with Anne had never been legal because she was the sister of one of Henry’s ex-mistresses, thus bastardising Anne’s daughter Elizabeth – Queen Catherine’s daughter Mary had already been declared illegitimate – which left the succession clear for any children Jane Seymour would bear.


BOSWORTH, BATTLE OF In the summer of 1485 RICHARD III was in Nottingham when word reached him that HENRY TUDOR, head of the House of Lancaster, had landed at Milford Haven on 7 August with two thousand mercenaries. As Welshmen flocked to Henry’s banner the king marched his army in the direction of Leicester and set up camp near Market Bosworth. Here, on the night of 21 August, a couplet was pinned to the canvas of the Duke of Norfolk’s tent with the warning:


Jack of Norfolk be not bolde


For Dickon thy master is bought and solde.


Norfolk ignored the warning and was to die valiantly in defence of the Yorkist Crown.


Next morning King Richard told his commanders, ‘Everyone give but one sure stroke and the day is ours. What prevaileth a handful of men to a whole realm? As for me, I assure you this day I will triumph by glorious victory or suffer death for immortal fame.’ The author of the Croyland Chronicle described how the king paraded his troops before Mass could be said or breakfast eaten, and was ready for battle by eight o’clock. He wore grey armour and sat astride a grey destrier, and over his helmet he placed his crown. Beneath it his face was pale and drawn but determined.


Richard arranged his forces on Ambion Hill overlooking the enemy camp with Norfolk’s archers and cavalry forming the vanguard on the hill’s crest. The king’s own cavalry was stationed behind and the Earl of Northumberland’s men were situated further back as the rearguard. On rising ground to the left Lord Thomas Stanley, the Steward of the Royal Household, waited with four thousand men. He had little enthusiasm for the campaign while his brother, Sir William Stanley, had been negotiating secretly with the Lancastrians and it has been suggested that the Stanleys positioned their men so that they would be able to join up with whichever side appeared to gain the advantage.


The royal army has been variously estimated to have numbered between eight and twelve thousand men, the rebels between five and eight thousand. This gave no advantage to Richard because when he advanced the Stanleys remained aloof, their troops idly watching the leading Yorkist ranks under Norfolk break against the tightly packed Lancastrians and then roll back to regroup. As the two vanguards clashed again, Richard ordered reinforcements from the rear but the Duke of Northumberland made no move to comply – ‘Dickon’ had indeed been bought and sold.


According to sixteenth-century writers Richard’s lieutenants urged him to flee at this treachery but he refused with the words, ‘I will die King of England. I shall not budge a foot.’ Then shouting ‘Treason! Treason!’ he charged into the enemy ranks at the head of a hundred of his faithful supporters. He was said to have fought his way towards Henry Tudor who until then he had never seen before, knowing that his only chance of retaining the throne lay in killing his foe. Henry managed to avoid him but Richard got close enough to kill his standard-bearer and the master of his cavalry before he was toppled from his saddle by a mace blow and stabbed to death on the ground.


The king’s body was stripped and mutilated and then, with his long hair hanging down, slung across a packhorse and carried to Leicester. There the royal corpse was thrown in a ditch where for two days it was an object of ridicule, after which it was interred by charitable monks in Greyfriars Church. Thus perished the last of the Plantagenet kings whose forebears had ruled over England for more than three centuries.


BOUDICCA After the Roman conquest of Britain there was resentment over tax gathering, the annexation of land for the settlement of Roman veterans and the statues of the alien gods in new stone-built temples. Yet for many the changing way of life was agreeable. Chieftains left their draughty halls for centrally heated villas, learned Latin and enjoyed the benefits of Roman citizenship. Among these was Prasutagus, the King of the Iceni of East Anglia. A pro-Roman ruler, he borrowed heavily from Roman moneylenders, including Nero’s wealthy tutor Seneca, in order to enjoy the benefits of the new civilisation imported from Rome. Before his death in AD 59 he arranged for the Emperor Nero to co-heir his kingdom with his daughters in order to safeguard their rights and those of the Iceni.


In the event this was no protection against the cupidity of Catus Decianus the procurator of Britain. The preceding emperor, Claudius, who had died in AD 54, granted large sums of money to British chieftains to encourage their Romanisation, but Catus Decianus decided to reclaim these grants on the pretext that they were loans due for repayment, and the Iceni were his first target. Meanwhile, in Rome Seneca demanded that Queen Boudicca, the widow of Prasutagus, should honour the debt incurred by her late husband.


Accompanied by a detachment of guards, Decianus’s tax collectors entered the queen’s palace at Norwich and ordered her to pay a huge sum of money. When she declared this would be impossible their response was brutal. ‘Kingdom and household were plundered like prizes of war, the one by Roman officers, the other by Roman slaves’, wrote Tacitus, the Roman historian whose father-in-law Agricola became the Governor of Britain in AD 77. ‘As a beginning his [Prasutagus’s] widow Boudicca was flogged and her daughters raped. The Icenian chiefs were deprived of their hereditary estates as if the Romans had been given the whole country.’


The Iceni watched impotently while their lands were confiscated but in secret forest enclaves Boudicca urged her people to revolt. She told them, ‘Do not fear the Romans. . . . They provide themselves with walls and palisades and trenches. Why do they adopt such methods of fighting? Because they are afraid. We prefer a rough-and-ready action. . . . Our shields protect us better than their suits of armour. They cannot stand hunger, thirst, cold or heat as we can. . . . Let us show them that they are the hares and foxes trying to rule over dogs and wolves!’


A shamed queen eager to fight for the liberty of her people, Boudicca was an impressive figure and as such has remained a heroic symbol personified by her statue on the Embankment in the centre of London, the city she once razed. The Greek historian Dio Cassius wrote: ‘She was very tall, in appearance terrifying, in the glance of her eye most fierce, and her voice was harsh. A great mass of the tawniest hair fell to her hips. Around her neck she wore a large golden necklace, and she wore a tunic of divers colours over which a thick mantle was fastened by a brooch.’


Boudicca’s opportunity to revolt came in June AD 61 when Suetonius Paulinus, the Governor of Britain, took two-thirds of his army garrisoned in North Wales to crush the Druids who had retired to their holy isle of Mona. The destruction of their sanctuary was an extra incentive for the Iceni to revolt when most of the Roman legionaries were far away. The ashes of the Druids’ groves were still smouldering when a message reached the victorious Suetonius that Camulodunum (now Colchester) had been razed by a rebel army led by Queen Boudicca whose Celtic name appropriately meant Victory. Almost immediately a second message reached the governor with the almost unbelievable news that an imperial legion had been annihilated.


When word of Camulodunum’s destruction and the slaughter of twenty thousand Romans and pro-Roman Britons had reached the Roman garrison at Lincoln, its commander Petilius Cerealis set out with five thousand troops of the IXth Legion. They were marching through treacherous fen country when a host of Britons rose like phantoms from the reeds. Their attack was so unexpected in such marshland that only the cavalry managed to fight its way back to Lincoln. This meant that there was now no Roman force in the south or east of the province capable of halting the rebels, and the cities of Londinium (London) and Verulamium (St Albans) would be vulnerable. The flight of Catus Decianus, the procurator responsible for the rebellion, to the Continent further weakened morale.


Knowing that his foot soldiers would not be able to march the 250 miles to Londinium in time to defend it, Suetonius rode ahead with his cavalry, with the infantry following as best it could. He dispatched a courier to Gloucester, the base of the IInd Augusta Legion, ordering its praefactus castrorum, Poenius Postrumus, to rendezvous with him on his intended route. With his cavalry and the four thousand men of the IInd Augusta he believed he might be able to defend London until the main body of the army arrived. After two days’ hard riding Suetonius reached the meeting place, but of Poenius Postrumus there was no sign. Tacitus wrote: ‘Contrary to his military oath he disobeyed the commands of his general.’ At this point Suetonius might have been tempted to wait for his army but the 60-year-old general was made of stern stuff and ordered his cavalry to continue. At the same time Queen Boudicca mounted her chariot, which according to legend had scythe blades fitted to its wheels, and led her people towards London. Moving down the Roman roads they resembled a human river, ever widening, as men constantly joined it, often with their families riding in ox carts. On the way Roman settlements were put to the torch and their inhabitants to the sword.


‘They would have nothing but killing, whether by sword, cross, gibbet or fire, as though hungry to avenge themselves beforehand for the retribution which was to follow’, wrote Tacitus. He appears to have had an inkling of Boudicca’s motive for such slaughter as it committed her followers irredeemably to her cause, as Rome would show no mercy after such atrocities and the only outcome would be victory or death.


With an estimated following of a hundred and twenty thousand people her progress was naturally slow, and early in July Suetonius reached Londinium ahead of her but only to tell its citizens that he could not defend the city but would escort refugees to a safer area across the Thames. About ten thousand early Londoners left with the Roman cavalry while those who remained prepared to defend their city which had only been established seventeen years previously. Their efforts were in vain. When the queen’s army arrived the city was destroyed in circumstances of particular horror, and historians believe that around twenty thousand people perished. Two millennia later there is still evidence of the holocaust in the form of a stratum of ash lying between 10ft to 20ft below the present-day surface of London. Similar layers of ash are to be found under St Albans which also fell to Boudicca. By now, according to Tacitus, seventy thousand Romans and Romanised Britons had been killed by the rebels.


Boudicca knew that although she had humbled the Romans she could not claim complete victory until Suetonius was vanquished and by August he was joined by his infantry and ready for the inevitable battle. The queen made the error of allowing him to take up position at the mouth of a defile with dense forest behind him and open sloping land in front. Perhaps it was thought that the site was unimportant as Suetonius was outnumbered by ten to one and, not having enough men to face the Britons’ battle line, he was forced to split his army into three separate groups.


The supporters of the rebel queen were so confident of victory they brought their families in wagons to watch the spectacle of the Romans’ defeat, ranging the vehicles in a tightly packed semicircle behind their vast army. Then wave after wave of Britons advanced up the slope to hurl themselves against the Romans’ locked shields, but each time they were rolled back until the next wave surged forward. This was the pattern of the battle until the Britons were exhausted and the Roman divisions began an inexorable advance in wedge-shaped formations. The disciplined advance of a Roman army could strike an awesome fear into an enemy and it did so on this occasion. The Britons panicked, but as they attempted to flee they found themselves hemmed in by their own wagons. Suetonius showed no mercy. Not only the demoralised men but the women and children who a few hours before had been cheering spectators were put to the short Roman swords. Even horses and oxen were butchered between the shafts of the wagons which were then set alight. Roman historians calculated that as many as eighty thousand rebels were killed by nightfall for the loss of four hundred Roman legionaries.


After his victory Suetonius waged a campaign of ruthless retribution in which the Iceni especially suffered, but once order was re-established throughout the province Emperor Nero uncharacteristically ordered a policy of reconciliation. Agricola replaced Suetonius, pardoned rebels and introduced reforms, and the practices which had ignited the rebellion were discontinued.


According to legend Queen Boudicca and her daughters managed to escape only to commit suicide by poison. Tacitus gave no clue as to the location of the battle but according to local tradition an obelisk standing in a field 2km north-east of Ambresbury Banks in Epping Forest marks the site.


BOYNE, BATTLE OF In March 1690 the deposed JAMES II sailed to Ireland from France with an army of six thousand French troops in an endeavour to regain his kingdom. The expedition was financed by Louis XIV. As the leading Roman Catholic king in Europe, Louis was the sworn enemy of Protestant WILLIAM OF ORANGE who had been invited by the English Parliament to assume the throne in what became known as the GLORIOUS REVOLUTION.


In Ulster, William’s army consisted not only of Englishmen, but Dutchmen already hardened from fighting the French, Scots, Danes and French. On 30 June this multinational force reached the River Boyne on the south side of which James was encamped. With the addition of Irish Catholics, James’s original army had grown to twenty-five thousand. While reconnoitring the river bank, William and his officers unwisely had an al fresco breakfast in full view of the enemy. Several cannon shots were fired at them and William was struck on the shoulder. Nevertheless, the next day he put himself at the head of his cavalry and, sword in hand, led them into the battle, which Ulster Protestants celebrate to this day.


After the Irish cavalry was broken James’s regiments began to scatter and the battle became a rout. Observing this from a hill, James became the first to flee in the direction of Dublin. In the city he railed against the Irish for running away from the Protestant enemy until Lady Tyrconnel, angered by this criticism of her kinsmen, said sweetly, ‘But Your Majesty won the race.’


BRAEMAR GATHERING Each September the Braemar Gathering for Highland sports and dancing takes place in the Aberdeenshire village of that name. The Gathering has been patronised by royalty ever since QUEEN VICTORIA attended it in 1848. She was attracted by the area and the games so much that she bought the Braemar estate five years later. It is said that some of the tougher sports, such as tossing the caber, go back to the reign of King Malcolm Canmore in the eleventh century.


BRETWALDA Meaning ‘ruler of Britain’, the word was first recorded in the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle entry for 829 which described EGBERT OF WESSEX as the eighth king to have that title.


BRIDEWELL PALACE In 1512 a fire destroyed the royal apartments in the Tower of London and another fire burned most of the Palace of Westminster, with only the Painted Chamber and the Great Hall surviving. This double disaster meant that HENRY VIII’s only London residence was BAYNARD’S CASTLE which could not be compared with Westminster or the Tower. The king therefore set about planning a new palace which would be suitably magnificent for a Tudor monarch and he chose a site on the bank of the River Fleet where it joined the Thames. The Fleet has long been bricked over but Bride Lane, which runs off New Bridge Street, marks where the northern wall of the palace once stood.


At the beginning of the sixteenth century CARDINAL WOLSEY acquired the land and when the king decided it would be a suitable location for his new residence the cardinal presented it to him. Construction work commenced in March 1513 under the supervision of Thomas Larke, Surveyor of the King’s Work, and was completed in 1522. Although no architectural plan of the palace has survived, it is known that it was rectangular in shape with great courtyards which were hidden from the outside world by the high palace buildings that enclosed them like a great wall. The principal palace gateway, situated on Bride Lane, opened into the imposing quadrangle known as Chapel Court which boasted the Great Staircase, the first in England to have been conceived expressly to lend majesty to state functions. A gateway led from Chapel Court into the Great Court, one side of which comprised the Great Hall, said to be 80ft in length, which covered the area known today as Bridewell Place.


It was here in November 1528 that Henry opened the proceedings for a royal divorce from Queen Catherine by addressing an assembly of nobles, prominent lawyers, dignitaries of the City and leading merchants. He explained that he feared that the marriage to the queen had been wrongful as she had been previously married to his brother Arthur and that his conscience required the ruling of a papal court in the matter. He added that if the Vatican ruled that Catherine was his rightful wife nothing would be ‘more pleasant or more acceptable’ to him. His words were wholly hypocritical as by now Henry, infatuated by Anne Boleyn, was desperate for the pope to grant him a divorce.


In the early months of 1529, during which legal argument was put forward that was to alter British history, Queen Catherine continued to live in the palace and became known as the ‘Martyr of Bridewell’. In the same year Cardinal Wolsey fell from the king’s favour, was impeached by the House of Lords and had his property confiscated by the Crown. This gave Henry the opportunity to take over York Palace, Wolsey’s magnificent Thames-side palace at Westminster which the king renamed Whitehall Palace. He much preferred this splendid residence to Bridewell which he soon abandoned.


During the short reign of his son EDWARD VI part of the empty palace was converted into the Royal Bridewell Hospital, a ‘house of correction’ for vagrants, and later the remaining unused area became a school. The erstwhile dignity of the royal residence was further eroded in 1666 when its southern buildings were burned down in the Great Fire of London. In 1855 the Bridewell House of Correction was closed and today all that remains of the palace is a gateway, its arch surmounted by the sculpted head of Edward VI, at 14 New Bridge Street.


BRIGHTON PAVILION The most fantastical royal residence in Britain stands in the heart of Brighton, an amalgam of domes, minarets and lacy stonework that would not look out of place in an ancient oriental city. The creation of GEORGE IV when he was Prince Regent, the pavilion remains a reminder of how the influence of the Prince helped to turn a Sussex fishing village into England’s most fashionable resort. In 1783, the year he attained his majority, George stayed with his Uncle Henry, Duke of Cumberland at Brightelmstone, later Brighton, which was attracting visitors because of the new fad for sea bathing.


The prince enjoyed his stay so much that when he secretly married MRS FITZHERBERT two years later he took a lease on a farmhouse at Brighton where he and his illegal wife could spend time together. But, with his taste for elegance, a farmhouse soon lost its charm and in 1787 the Prince commissioned the architect Henry Holland to turn it into a villa, its ‘classical’ design elaborated by chinoiserie within and domes reminiscent of Russian churches without. As it turned out, Mrs Fitzherbert never actually lived in the pavilion but discreetly took a house close by, and after 1811 when the prince ended their association she never set foot inside its exotic interior.


After George became Prince Regent he felt free to spend more on the Marine Pavilion, as it was then called, and while initially favouring a Chinese-style exterior for the remodelled house, his preference later veered to the Indian. Thus, in 1815 John Nash began transforming it into a palace that could have come straight from the Arabian Nights. The work was completed seven years later and resulted in a unique residence with an interior theme that was the epitome of fantastic oriental decoration.


When WILLIAM IV ascended the throne he enjoyed stays at what was now the Royal Pavilion, and when at Brighton he made a point of remaining on friendly terms with Mrs Fitzherbert. QUEEN VICTORIA liked what she called ‘this strange building’ but now that Brighton had become so fashionable because of its royal connection she had little privacy and the seclusion of Osborne was much more to her taste. Royal interest in the pavilion waned and many of its furnishings were removed to Buckingham Palace, leaving its future in doubt until 1849 when it was purchased by Brighton Council and opened to the public. Over the years much of its former glory has been restored, with Buckingham Palace returning many of its original contents.


BRITANNIA This was a name used to denote Britain by the Romans and later reintroduced by the scholar and antiquary William Camden who titled his famous survey of the British Isles, Britannia, published in 1586. As a symbol of the nation, Britannia is represented as a seated woman with a shield, trident and Greek-style helmet. Modelled on CHARLES II’s favourite, Frances Stewart, Britannia first appeared on the King’s ‘Peace of Breda’ medal of 1667 and later on copper coins, the last being on the pre-decimal penny.


BRITISH EMPIRE, ORDER OF THE With the motto ‘For God and Empire’, the Order of the British Empire was instituted in 1917 and is awarded in recognition of exceptional work in the fields of art, science and charity work. Every four years the Order holds a celebratory service in its chapel which is St Paul’s Cathedral. There is no limit to the number of the Order’s members, of whom there are over a hundred thousand.


BRUCE, EDWARD The brother of ROBERT I (‘The Bruce’) of Scotland, Edward, Lord of Galloway and Earl of Garrick, proved himself to be an outstanding and ruthless soldier in the fight for Scottish independence. In 1308 he laid waste to Galloway, leaving the English caged in a small number of castles, followed by several campaigns on behalf of his brother the king. And at the decisive BATTLE OF BANNOCKBURN, fought in 1314, Edward commanded the foremost division. The next year the nobles of Ulster proposed that he should have the crown of Ireland. With an army of six thousand he crossed from Ayr to Ulster and won a series of victories over the English which made him master of the province. He was crowned the King of Ireland on 2 May 1316 but on 14 October 1318 he was slain when his army was defeated by an Anglo-Irish force at the Battle of Dandled.


BUCKINGHAM PALACE Not only the official residence of QUEEN ELIZABETH II and her consort PRINCE PHILIP, Buckingham Palace is the chief venue for traditional royal ceremonies, the entertainment of state visitors and the holding of investitutres. Yet when GEORGE II acquired it for the Crown at a cost of £28,000 in 1762 he wanted it merely to be a family residence so he could move from nearby ST JAMES’S PALACE, which he disliked, but where court ceremonial would continue.


The first house on the site had been built in 1633 by Lord Goring. It was destroyed by fire forty-two years later, rebuilt as Arlington House and passed into the ownership of the Duke of Buckingham in 1703, when it was rebuilt again and named Buckingham House.


King George, who had been crowned and married to Charlotte of Mecklenburg-Strelitz in September 1761, moved into Buckingham House the following May. The young couple were delighted with it, though the queen returned to St James’s Palace for the birth of her first child, the future GEORGE IV. However, their other fourteen children were born at what George renamed the Queen’s House. During his reign the book-loving king added his famous library to the house, the completion of which was marked by a celebration that included the grounds being lit by four thousand coloured lanterns. When fire destroyed part of St James’s Palace in 1809 it was found necessary to move a large number of official and social functions to the Queen’s House.


After George IV came to the throne in 1820 he decided to transform the house into a truly royal palace where he could hold court and attend to affairs of state, and to this end he commissioned John Nash to draw up the plans. One of the problems faced by Nash was a lack of money, as Parliament was wary of the king’s architectural ambitions after the vast amounts of money he had previously lavished on Carlton House, the Brighton Pavilion and Windsor Castle. Nevertheless, work went ahead, with the area of the main block of the Queen’s House being doubled, and its wings lengthened to form a courtyard whose open end, facing The Mall, was railed off. For a ceremonial entry into the courtyard Nash designed a massive triumphal arch commemorating the victories of Admiral Nelson.


Nash used Bath stone to face the exterior of what was now being called ‘The King’s House at Pimlico’. The interior gained new state rooms including a throne room, music room, picture gallery, state dining-room and three drawing-rooms: the White Drawing Room, the Green and the Blue.


The palace was not finished when WILLIAM IV came to the throne and entrusted the remainder of the work to the architect Edward Blore, who was more down to earth than his predecessor. William never took up residence in the palace; indeed, after the fire at the PALACE OF WESTMINSTER he suggested it might serve as the Houses of Parliament.


After QUEEN VICTORIA took up residence at the palace in 1837, marrying PRINCE ALBERT three years later, she found that it was not big enough for state functions, there being no room large enough to hold a state ball, or for her growing family. The answer was to build a new wing across the open end of the central courtyard, which meant that in 1851 Nash’s triumphal arch was moved to Hyde Park at the end of Oxford Street where it became known as Marble Arch. Sir James Penthorne, a nephew of Nash, now took over the work on the palace, and at the queen’s wish he added the south wing to accommodate the State Supper Room and the adjoining ballroom. At that time the latter, with its dimensions of 111ft by 59ft, was the largest room in London. Apart from its function as a ballroom, it became the setting for orchestral concerts performed by the queen’s private orchestra.


Following the death of Prince Albert in 1861 the widowed queen lost interest in Buckingham Palace, though in 1868 she held the first royal garden party in the palace grounds. It later became a yearly occasion but during the four decades that followed Albert’s death the palace was virtually closed up for most of each passing year. However, in 1873 the Shah of Persia and his entourage were installed in the palace during a state visit, an event that generated a number of dubious anecdotes such as when being escorted round a prison he expressed a wish to see the gallows operated and when informed that there was no condemned criminal available he is alleged to have said, ‘Take one of my servants.’


When EDWARD VII came to the throne he found it necessary to have the interior redecorated, much of it being painted white with plenty of gilding. After the austere years of Victoria’s reign her son transformed the palace into a scene of glittering social occasions, banquets and balls with the sure hand of a seasoned bon viveur.


GEORGE V had been on the throne for one year when, in 1911, the marble memorial from which Sir Thomas Brock’s statue of Queen Victoria gazes down The Mall was erected in front of the palace. During an air raid on London on 13 September 1940 a number of bombs struck the palace and destroyed its chapel. The palace’s state rooms were opened to the public in 1993.


BYE PLOT When James VI of Scotland became JAMES I of England in 1603, a plot to kidnap him was contrived by a Roman Catholic priest named William Watson. The plan, which became known as the Bye Plot, was to seize the king’s person when visiting Greenwich Palace and induce him to avow toleration of Roman Catholics. The intrigue came to nothing but Sir Walter Raleigh was alleged to have been involved and was imprisoned in the TOWER OF LONDON. The investigation that the Bye Plot instigated uncovered the ‘Main Plot’, a scheme – said to have been encouraged by Spain – to remove the king and place his cousin Arabella Stuart on the throne.


Arabella, a third cousin to ELIZABETH I, managed to disassociate herself from the Main Plot, although previously she had been suspected of having been in love with William Seymour, later the Earl of Hertford, who had Tudor blood in his veins. This was overlooked until 1610 when she married Seymour secretly and their combination of royal blood was regarded as dangerous to the succession. They were imprisoned in the Tower of London from which both managed to escape. Seymour fled to Ostend but Arabella was recaptured and returned to the Tower where she died, insane, five years later.





C


CADE, JACK Little is known of Jack Cade’s early life except that he came from Ireland, practised as a physician in Kent and married the daughter of a squire. From the manner in which he marshalled thousands of disaffected men and endeavoured to discipline them it is thought that he may have had a military background. In May 1450, over forty thousand men of Kent, dissatisfied with the rule of HENRY VI, and eager for Richard, Duke of York to be returned to favour, marched on London under the leadership of Cade who, having assumed the name of Mortimer, now called himself the Captain of Kent.


The rebels camped at Blackheath where for two days Cade managed to maintain strict order. During that time the Lord Mayor was forced to pass judgement on the king’s hated favourite, Lord Sayle, who was summarily beheaded at Cheapside. On the third day a relatively small number of unruly rebels plundered some houses and this provoked the citizens to fortify London Bridge against the insurgents. Coupled with this setback, the promise of a royal pardon sowed dissension among Cade’s followers as their enthusiasm for their cause evaporated. Cade attempted to make his way secretly to the coast but on 12 July he was cornered in a garden near Heathfield, Sussex, and killed by Sheriff Iden of Kent. Unlike the Peasants’ Revolt of 1381, no reprisals were taken against the men of Kent following their leader’s death.


CAMELOT Just as there is no tangible proof that KING ARTHUR ever existed, there is no evidence of Camelot having been built. Yet such is the prominence of the Arthurian epic in British folklore it is argued that there must have once been actual people and sites upon which the legends were based. Sir Thomas Malory, the fifteenth-century author of Le Morte d’Arthur, declared that Winchester was the site of Camelot but archaeological discoveries point to the prehistoric hillfort known as Cadbury Castle, south-west of Wincanton. Covering an area of 18 acres and defended by four lines of ditches and banks, its connection with Arthur was first recorded in 1542 by John Leland, the chaplain to HENRY VIII who made him ‘king’s antiquary’. He wrote: ‘At South Cadbyri standith Camallate, sumtyme a famose toun or castelle. The people can tell me nothing but that they hard say that Arture mych resortid to Camalat.’


The possibility that Cadbury Castle was the site of Camelot was investigated by the Camelot Research Committee under the chairmanship of the archaeologist Dr Ralegh Radford who had previously excavated Tintagel which was also associated with the Arthurian legend. In 1966 work commenced on the site and it was soon evident that, like an English Troy, it had various settlements, from Neolithic times onward, superimposed upon one another. It seems that the ‘castle’ fell out of use after the arrival of the Romans. However, shards of pottery similar to those found at Tintagel were found, indicating that the fort had been reoccupied after the Roman withdrawal and that new defensive drystone walls had been built which were definitely the work of Celts. Cadbury Castle is the only British Iron Age fortress to have been renewed on this scale, which leads to the conclusion that it was a unique centre of resistance against Anglo-Saxon invaders, providing a base for a Romanised British war leader such as the original Arthur would have been.


CAMLANN, BATTLE OF ARTHUR’s last battle was fought at Camlann, the site of which has never been identified. Contenders for the battlefield include a spot by the River Cam in Cambridgeshire, the area around Slaughter Bridge on the River Camel in Cornwall and Camboglanna in Cumbria. The latter is an extensive Roman fort on Hadrian’s Wall, known now as Birdoswald, situated between Lanercost Priory and Gilsland.


CANUTE Born c. 994 the son of Sweyn, King of Denmark, and his Polish queen Gunhilda, Canute lived to become king of the English and the Norwegians. He was with his father when, angered over the murder of his sister Gunhilda in the St Bride’s Day Massacre, he ravaged areas of England. After the defection of ETHELRED THE UNREADY Sweyn had been proclaimed King of England but then died unexpectedly at the beginning of 1014. The Danes who had come to England in Sweyn’s war fleet elected Canute to succeed his father while his elder brother Harold became King of Denmark. However, at the request of the Witan Ethelred returned, raised an army and defeated Canute at Lindsey forcing him to sail back to Denmark for reinforcements after cutting off the hands, ears and noses of his English hostages.


In 1015 he returned with a mighty fleet and, after landing in Dorsetshire, devastated the surrounding countryside and by Christmas was master of Wessex. Early in the following year he led his army to York and received the submission of Northumbria.


The Danish poet Ottar the Black wrote in praise of Canute:


You made was in green Lindsey, Prince.


The Vikings wrought the violence they would.


In your rage, withstander of the Swedes,


You brought sorrow upon the English,


In Helmingborg to the west of the Ouse.


Young leader, you made the English fall close to the Tees.


The deep dyke flowed over the bodies of Northumbrians.


You broke the Raven’s sleep, Waker of battle.


Apart from London, England was now Canute’s but following the death of ETHELRED II in April 1016 he found the late king’s son, EDMUND IRONSIDE, who had been elected king by Londoners, a powerful foe who reconquered Wessex. After several battles, Edmund and his Anglo-Saxons were defeated at Assandun (now Ashingdon) in Essex. Finally both sides faced each other across the River Severn and it was here that Edmund is said to have challenged Canute to single combat with the throne of England going to the victor. In reply Canute suggested that they should divide the country between them and live in peace. The two warrior kings met on the isle of Olney in the Severn where it was settled that Edmund should have Wessex and Canute the rest of England, and whoever lived the longest should rule all England. Within two months of this pact Edmund died mysteriously, which meant that Canute had control of the entire kingdom.


He was a king in the Viking tradition and one of his favourite sayings was ‘He who brings me the head of one of my enemies shall be dearer to me than a brother.’ His first act, in keeping with the then ruthless streak in his nature, was to hunt down the late king’s relations and some of the most powerful English nobles, and to exile Edmund’s two little sons.


In 1018 he levied a heavy tax – the hated Danegeld that had been introduced by Ethelred the Unready – which raised 82,500 pounds of silver which he used to pay off the Danish warriors who had come in his great fleet, retaining the crews of only forty ships. This demonstrated how secure he felt in his new kingdom which he divided into four earldoms of Mercia, Northumberland, Wessex and East Anglia.


It was at this time that he underwent a shift of character, changing from a violent Viking conqueror to a wise and temperate ruler who endeavoured to govern the country according to English ideas. One of the most important aspects of his reign was that he regarded England as his personal kingdom rather than a Danish colony. Under his reign the common folk were to enjoy the first peace and security that they had known for a long time and were reassured by the fact that their new king had sent most of his army back to Denmark. In the same year, 1018, his brother Harold died so that he became King of Denmark as well as England, which meant the end of Danish raids which had been the bane of the English.


Canute summoned a national council at Oxford at which it was agreed to observe the laws and equal rights of KING EDGAR’s time and he gradually replaced the Danish earls with native Englishmen, a Saxon noble named Godwine becoming the powerful Earl of Wessex in 1019, an appointment that was to have historical significance after the king’s reign. He was also famous for his liberality to churches and monasteries, and to strengthen his position as King of England he married Ethelred’s widow, Emma. Canute gained the sovereignty of Norway when King Olaf, later the patron saint of Norway, died in 1030. Thus what had been a divided England became part of a Scandinavian empire.


A tradition as popular down the ages as the story of King Alfred burning the cakes tells how Canute, weary of the flattery of his courtiers, ordered a chair to be set up on the seashore. Sitting in it he commanded the waves not to wet his feet, but as the tide rose and the water washed over the hem of his robe, it demonstrated his tenet that he was just another human being in the eyes of God.


When Canute died at Shaftesbury in 1035 he was mourned for his high ideals of a sovereign’s duty. Today his remains, and those of Queen Emma, are housed in a mortuary chest in Winchester Cathedral.


CARACTACUS A son of the British king CUNOBELINUS, Caractacus divided his father’s realm with his brother Togidumnus on their father’s death in AD 40. The brothers fought against the Roman invasion and Tacitus wrote: ‘The natural ferocity of the inhabitants was intensified by their belief in the prowess of Caractacus, whose many undefeated battles – and even many victories – made him pre-eminent among British chieftains.’ In AD 43 he disappeared after being defeated in battle, after which Togidumnus had died. Five years later he reappeared as the leader of the Silures of south-east Wales until he lost his final battle to Ostorius near Ludlow. He fled north to the Brigantia tribe which he believed would aid him but instead he was handed over to his enemies by CARTIMANDUA, Queen of the Brigantes, who was anxious to please Rome.


In AD 51 he and his family were taken to Rome to be exhibited in the Emperor Claudius’s triumph. According to Tacitus the British king held himself more like a conqueror than a captive and addressed the emperor with these words: ‘Had my lineage and rank been accompanied by only moderated success, I should have come to this city as friend rather than prisoner and you would not have disdained to ally yourself peacefully with one so nobly born. . . . As it is, humiliation is my lot, glory yours. I had horses, men, arms, wealth. Are you surprised that I am sorry to lose them? If you want to rule the world does it follow that everyone else welcomes enslavement?’
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